

Developing a Credit Dashboard

A Major Qualifying Project Report

Submitted to the faculty of WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science

Submitted on 01/08/2013

Project Sponsor:

Bank of America – Merrill Lynch

Submitted by:

Nicolas Dupuis, Management Engineering

Alexandra Mutty, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Fangwen Yuan, Computer Science

Submitted to:

Onsite Liaison:

Peter Bartek, Vice President; Programmer Prof MKTS

Project Advisors:

Kevin Sweeney, School of Business, WPI

Micha Hofri, Department of Computer Science, WPI

Xinming Huang, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, WPI

Abstract

Quartz, the all-in-one platform developed in Bank of America's Global Markets Research Technology (GMRT) department, is heavily used for development teams, but lacks an easy method for monitoring system health. We spoke with GMRT Quartz users to identify gadgets that would be useful to them in their work, and developed seven gadgets to fill their needs. Our final deliverable was a Credit Dashboard containing seven gadgets that monitor the health of various components of Quartz.

Executive Summary

Bank of America, like most large-scale financial, corporate, and wealth management institutions, is heavily involved in credit trading. An entire division of the company is dedicated to the buying and selling of credit derivatives. The Global Markets Research Technology (GMRT) department supports trading activities by developing proprietary and nonproprietary software to make trading as easy and efficient as possible. One of the most important projects in GMRT is the development of Quartz, an allin-one system for market data, risk measures, approval workflow, and a central location for all tools an employee will need. The final vision for Quartz is to have one platform containing front-to-back pricing, risk management, lifecycle, settlements, and analytics. This system would allow for quick turnaround time on new instruments and tools for users, and easier collaboration for developers by working on the same base code.

Quartz is a large system made up of many smaller components, so a large issue it faces is in monitoring system health. Specialized Quartz Dashboards are already incorporated to display interesting statistics on Quartz users and development progress in teams, but there are no global monitors on processes and applications. The Quartz system needs some way to allow GMRT users to monitor applications and processes that are pertinent to their work.

Our project was to develop a Credit Dashboard to contain gadgets that monitor various Quartz components' health. The gadgets developed monitor different applications and queues within Sandra, the object-orientated database where information is stored. The Credit Dashboard acts as a central location for the gadgets to be contained, and which all users have access to through Quartz.

We had two main objectives for the completion of this project: Identify desired gadgets, and develop those gadgets for the Credit Dashboard. We spoke with our sponsor liaison, and project manager, Peter Bartek about his ideas for needed gadgets, and interviewed with other GMRT Quartz users to find out what tools they would like to have. The gadgets were developed through a defined process: generate idea, define specifications, create concept art, create proof of concept, tailor gadget to need, and finally a finished gadget that could be put into production.

Each gadget was developed to fill a need or purpose for one user, and monitors a specific application or queue. In pertinent gadgets, we included the ability to drill down into more detail through the use of hyperlinks to intermediate pages or Sandra database items. The code for each gadget can be

easily edited and adapted for another user's purpose, if they would like to use the Credit Dashboard. The first gadgets on the Credit Dashboard were created by Bartek as proof of concept for the project, and contain information on the number of items in different queues. We added five unique gadgets (seven gadgets total) to the Dashboard and later eliminated the original gadgets from Bartek when their data was incorporated into one of the gadgets we designed.

Our first gadget, named Sandra Database Last Five Trades, pulls information on the last five trades entered into a Processed queue of the Sandra database and displays the fields in a table. The next gadget developed, Blotter Last Five Events, displays the last five events that a user has entered in their electronic blotter, called E-Dash (or CST Sales Tool). The Last Ten Alerts gadget provides a table of the last ten Alerts from a queue of alerts sent from an application, and generates popup notifications when a new alert has arrived. The Trades and Alerts gadget displays information on items in various queues, including the queues displayed in the original gadgets by Bartek. A table is used to display the number of items, a pie chart for each queue displays the ratio of different queues inside each larger queue, and a bar chart displays each queue, and their ratios, in a single chart. Blotter User Statistics is a gadget developed to display users launching their electronic blotter. A tree map shows the usage of the application in comparison with different department teams, and a graph displays the users and launches over the last ten days.

The final deliverable of this project is a Credit Dashboard with seven gadgets that monitor various aspects of system health within Quartz for users to view. The Credit Dashboard can be further improved through the generation of new gadget ideas by identifying users' needs, and the addition of more gadgets to the Dashboard. If more teams within GMRT begin using the Dashboard, further improvements can be made by creating individual customizable dashboards for users. This can be achieved by first editing current and future gadgets to allow for easy customization for displaying information from different applications or queue paths. Once gadgets are customizable to users, the Credit Dashboard could allow for the addition and removal of gadgets at a user's convenience, and preference storage so that upon launch, a user's customization is saved.

A personal, customizable Dashboard would greatly benefit users by allowing them to easily monitor system health, and any data relevant to their work, so that issues, errors, or discrepancies can be dealt with quickly before it becomes a larger issue.

iii

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following individuals for their contributions to our project. Without their assistance, the project would not have been completed to its fullest possible extent.

Professor Kevin Sweeney

Professor Micha Hofri

Professor Xinming Huang

For providing guidance and encouragement throughout the project

Peter Bartek

Fred Hsu

Gokul Menon

Regina Roberson

Mike Yang

For their assistance and guidance in making the development and application processes of the project systematic and successful

Table of Contents

Abstract	. i
Executive Summary	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
Table of Figures	/ii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Background	3
2.1 Credit Trading at Bank of America	3
2.2 Global Markets Research Technology	3
2.3 Quartz	4
2.3.1 Sandra: The object database	5
2.3.2 Quack: Quartz Access Control	7
2.3.3 QZDev: Development application	7
2.3.4 DAG: Quartz Dependency Graph	8
2.3.5 AMPS: Real-time publish/subscribe	8
2.3.6 Inform: Real-time Sandra notifications	9
2.3.7 Bob: Quartz Batch Scheduler	9
2.3.8 Qzap: Quartz Addressable Protocol	9
2.3.9 Powwow: The Quartz communication system1	.0
2.3.10 Quartz Deal Model: A format for all trades1	.1
2.3.11 Dashboard: Dashboard of Quartz statistics1	.1
2.4 Python1	.3
2.5 Application Development1	.3
Chapter 3: Methodology1	.5
3.1 Research1	.5
3.2 Project Objectives	.7
3.2.1 Identify Desired Gadgets1	.7
3.2.2 Create Dashboard and Gadgets1	.7
3.3 Gadget Production1	.9
Chapter 4: Gadget Specifications2	20
4.1 The Credit Dashboard2	20

4.2 Gadgets	22
4.2.1 Sandra Database Last 5 Trades	23
4.2.2 Blotter Last Five Events	25
4.2.3 Last Ten Alerts	27
4.2.4 Trades/Alerts Status	
4.2.5 Blotter User Statistics	34
4.2.6 Queues	
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations	40
References	42
Appendix A: Meetings Log	44
Appendix B: Interview Outline	46
Appendix C: A Brief History of Bank of America	47

Table of Figures

Figure 1. QZDesktop	5
Figure 2. Sandra Database through DB Browser	6
Figure 3. Sandra Database through DB Browser, Usage Map view	7
Figure 4. QZDev application	8
Figure 5. Employee Profile through Qzap	.10
Figure 6. Quartz Deal Model	.11
Figure 7. Quartz Dashboard	. 12
Figure 8. Quartz Dashboard 2	. 12
Figure 9. Waterfall Model	.14
Figure 10. Project Timeline	. 15
Figure 11. Quartz Academy Example	.16
Figure 12. Gadget Development Process	. 18
Figure 13. The Credit Dashboard	. 20
Figure 14. QZDesktop with link to Credit Dashboard (Dashboard (QA))	.21
Figure 15. Process of Launching the Credit Dashboard	. 22
Figure 16. Concept Art Last Five Trades	.23
Figure 17. Sandra Last 5 Trades Gadget	.24
Figure 18. Intermediate Trade Page	. 25
Figure 19. CST Sales Tool Electronic Blotter	.26
Figure 20. Last Five Events from CST Sales Tool	. 27
Figure 21. Concept Art for Last Ten Alerts	.28
Figure 22. Gadget for Last 10 Alerts	. 29
Figure 23. Notification of new Alert in Last 10 Alerts Gadget	. 29
Figure 24. Alerts notifications when Launching Dashboard after new Alerts occur	.30
Figure 25. Concept Art for Trades Status table	. 30
Figure 26. Concept Art for Trades Status Graph	.31
Figure 27. Initial Trades Status Table Gadget	.31
Figure 28. Initial Trades Status Graph Gadget	. 32
Figure 29. Trades Status Table and Chart Gadget	.33
Figure 30. Trades Status Bar Chart Gadget	.33
Figure 31. Concept Art for User Statistics Gadget	. 35
Figure 32. Concept Art for User Statistics Graph over time	. 35
Figure 33. Initial User Statistics Gadget	.36
Figure 34. Users Statistics Gadget	.37
Figure 35. User Statistics Graph over Time Gadget	. 38
Figure 36. Queues Gadget of Processed Trade Messages	. 38
Figure 37. Queues Gadget for Processed Alerts	. 39
Figure 38. Concept for Blank Customizable Dashboard	.41

Chapter 1: Introduction

Over the last one hundred years, technology has drastically changed the way in which humans conduct their lives. Social interactions, careers, travel, and businesses have all been affected by the wave of technological advances, and the advent of computers and access to internet further served to improve the quality of human life. Banks too have been modernized and improved through the use of new technologies to more easily and efficiently run their business.

We observed what seemed to be a strong commitment to quality at Bank of America, including the firm's technology department. In an effort to create a single system for all market data, trades, risk assessment and approval workflow, a core team of technology employees developed Quartz. Quartz permits all users access to the same base materials, which allows for easier collaboration, sharing, and access to data. The system offers many different applications to users, from browsers to development tools and soon, an electronic blotter.

With such a large system containing so many smaller components, keeping track of specific applications becomes a difficult chore. A user can look through DB Browser, a browser for the Sandra database that contains all items, to find a specific process, queue of events, or transaction, but it is not easy to see something as simple as the last recorded trade that failed. Going through the process of finding this information takes time and effort, and Quartz users have many more important things they could be doing instead.

Quartz would benefit from a central location for system information that is easy to view and keep track of any wanted occurrences. The Quartz Core Team has already developed Dashboards that display statistics on the adoption of Quartz and developer's work, displayed on TV's on the 31st Floor of the Bank of America Tower at One Bryant Park, and also available through Quartz. While statistics on Quartz users and lines of code committed is pertinent and interesting to look at, additional system information and monitoring of processes would be beneficial to users.

Our project aims to fill this need through the creation of a Credit Dashboard containing gadgets that monitor system information. The Dashboard acts as an easy to view central location for system information that all users have access to, and the gadgets are developed and designed to display relevant information in a style that is both easy to understand and aesthetically pleasing. Each gadget begins with a high-level view of an application, process, or queue, but has the ability to drill down into more information by providing links to either intermediate pages containing more information, or straight to the Sandra database to see the item directly. This way, users receive both an overview of relevant information, and easy access to more details if they need to know more.

Chapter 2: Background

This chapter reviews information pertinent to the understanding and development of the creation of the Credit Dashboard.

2.1 Credit Trading at Bank of America

Credit Trading involves the buying and selling of corporate bonds and credit derivatives. A corporate bond is a debt security issued by a corporation and sold to investors. The bond is then paid for by future operations of the company. The interest rate at which the company pays back its bond holders is determined by their creditworthiness and credit rating. A company with a higher credit rating will pay a lower coupon rate than a company with a low credit rating. This is because the company with the higher credit rating is deemed to be more likely to pay back their investors and is therefore less likely to default. The higher coupon rate is required on the lower credit rated company in order to entice investors to take on the extra risk associated with lending them money. In order to protect themselves from the interest rate risk and default risk of holding corporate bonds, Bank of America and other banks will also trade credit derivatives.

Bank of America uses credit derivatives to manage their exposure to credit risk. The most common credit derivatives are credit default swaps (CDS). A CDS acts like a form of insurance that protects against the failure to repay, or default, of the underlying asset. When Bank of America purchases a CDS, the firm receives the credit protection while the seller guarantees the protection in the case of default. The risk of default is then held by the seller of the CDS instead of by Bank of America. This is used to manage the risk of their portfolio. With the large number of mortgage loans, auto loans, and personal loans that are issued by banks it is important that they are able to protect themselves from the non-repayment of these loans in order to stay in business. Since banks trade with each other, they all trade the same instruments while relying on their proprietary software and strategies to give them an edge in the market.

2.2 Global Markets Research Technology

The Global Markets Research Technology (GMRT) Division within Bank of America develops proprietary and non-proprietary software in order to support the Global Markets businesses including Equity, Electronic Trading, Rates & Currencies, Credit and Structured Products, Commodities, Research, Sales, and Capital Markets. The Credit Trading Technology Department supports the sales teams and traders on the trading floor. They develop applications to help make the day-to-day operations of the sales teams and traders easier. Ideas for applications will either be generated themselves or they will meet directly with the teams to talk about any issues they are having and ideas they have for applications. If an application is feasible, it will be assigned to a team to begin development. Once an application is finished it will be released to a few sales team members or traders as a beta application to work out any bugs in the system. Here, the teams will make sure the application works well with the current systems being used and functions properly. After beta testing, the application as well as updates will be performed as long as it is in use.

Over the last few years, one of the major projects from the GMRT department is Quartz, which aims to become an all-in-one system for market data, risk analysis, trades, and approval workflow. The Quartz Documentation lists that the ultimate vision for Quartz is:

- One platform for trades, market data, analytics, and risk measures across asset groups
- Front-to-back pricing, risk management, lifecycle, settlements and approval workflow
- Quants/Tech/Front Office/Middle Office/Operations developers work on the same code base tear down silos
- Quick turnaround for new instruments, risk and Front Office tools without sacrificing maintainability

Quartz is heavily used in GMRT, but many sectors of the company never open it. The Quartz Core Team and many others in the department work towards making applications that would interest users into using the system.

2.3 Quartz

Quartz is an object-orientated all-in-one platform for trades, market data, risk management, and development groups created and used exclusively by Bank of America. The concept behind this system is transparency; all users have access to view, contribute, and modify content in the system, with some restrictions. This allows for users to more easily access data, analytics, and other tools needed for work. Collaboration is much simpler for developers, as they all work on the same base code. The system also

provides quick turnaround time for new instruments and tools through a unique approval workflow system.

The overall system is called Quartz, but is made up of many smaller components and applications. The base tool used is QZDesktop, which users can install on their computers to access Quartz similar to how you would a Windows folder system (figure 1). Users can find shortcuts to Quartz applications, add applications to their favorites, and easily add programs that they want to automatically start. The applications are organized by folder, applications for Credit located in that folder, and applications for Development in the Dev folder.





QZDesktop offers many applications for different user areas. The applications general to all Quartz users and applications most pertinent to this project are described in the following sections.

2.3.1 Sandra: The object database

All object types and transactions that occur through Quartz are stored in the Sandra Database. The transactions can be viewed using the DB Browser, which allows a user to switch from several different databases, and filter through different subdirectories to find a specific transaction (figure 2). Based on

the location of an object inside of the DB Browser, a program can retrieve information from the Sandra Database, or use the location to generate a URL to launch the object in the DB Browser.

+ + +	gzap://Db8rowser	?mode=direx8idb=credit_dev			1 3	0.
64	DoBrowser Directories - @c	redit_dev: • / (39.1 GB)				Hel
CHEL	filter the list by substr	Subdirectories act on sel	etid., dispath., new	÷.	60 out of 68	i rows show mo
Directories	Applications@	• name	total bytes.	total items	created	updated
Indices	Assets/	Assets/	4,417,577	18,519	2013-08-15 08-5	2013-08-15 (
Transactions	Bonds/	Bonds/	10,343	29	2013-08-15 02:0	2013-08-15 (
Paravalan	Booker/	E Booker/	8,847	38	2013-08-15 11-1	2013-08-15
Lonnections	Books/	Books/	13,191,441	29,094	2013-08-15 02:0	2013-08-15 (
Stats	CAM/	Breadcrumbs/	17,256,744	71,128	2013-08-15 02:0	2013-08-15 (
	CREDIT/	CAM/	1,476,575,145	18,031	2013-09-12 11:0	2013-09-12
rewst	Choices@	CREDET/	37,498	190	2013-08-15 18.0	2013-08-15 :
Explorer	Closes/	Closes/	197,099,863	100,711	2013-08-15 02:0	2013-08-15 (
Usage Map	Concorde/	Concorde/	1,445	8	2013-09-20 09-0	2013-09-20 (
Tabudator	Configs/	4.1	B1			
Thursday	CsEriv	Suminks: act on selected	direction metric			8 104
	CustomHierarchies/	name	db	path	LiP	created
	DeaMinteControl/	Applications®	positions /Applic	ations	True 201	3-08-15 09:06-
	DealerIntervention/	Choices@	mktdata /Choice	5	True 201	3-08-15 02:004
	Deals/	EDØ	mktdata /EQ		True 201	3-08-15 02:00#
	EMA/	FID	mktdata /FI		True 201	3-08-15 02:00#
	EQO	FX@	mittdata /FX		True 201	3-08-15 02:00#
	Lenii -	0.57				

Figure 2. Sandra Database through DB Browser

DB Browser has three views, the Explorer, Usage map, and Tabulator. For most cases, the Explorer view (figure 2) is the easiest way to navigate, as it functions like a folder with subfolders. Clicking into an item drills down into that folder, and any folders under it. The Tabulator works in the same way, but in the view of a table blotter. The Usage Map view, while visually appealing, does not make it easy to dive into less well-used directories, as the directories with the largest amount of data appear larger than those with less data (figure 3).

De Treem	ap - dev. / - 7360	and the second			L	
* * *	qzap://DbBrowser?m	ode : divage&db : dev&maxdepth : 28c	0r = %2F			0.
E	DbBrowser Dir Usage Map *	lden 🕈 /				Heb
Directories Indices Transactions Connections Stats Views Esplorer Usage Map Tabulatar	 / 1883 GB / 219,984,945 i Ops 73.0 GB / 59,657.5 RefData 23.6 GB / 33.7 Reib 23.6 GB / 33.7 Reib 21,0 GB / 18,386 (Reports 13.2 GB / 21.8 Trading Events 11.6 GB Mikel Data 10.2 GB / 20. tmp 5.6 GB / 1.327,545 Breadcrumto 4.9 GB / op 4.4 CB / 78,052 ii E Assets 3.8 GB / 6,387;5 Instruments 25 GB / 2 Books 1.9 GB / 3.419.4 risk 1.8 GB / 1.069,643 	Ops 73.0 GB / 59,657,551 nems	RefDat 23.6 GB / 33.770.4 Reports	a 26 items 2 Mkt	Ri 1.9 GB / 18 Data	sk 338.946 item tmp 5.8 G8 / 1.32
Cid treemap	Deah 1.6 GB / 4.883.81 EQ 1.1 GB / 153,980 m ScenarioValuation 1.1 people 962 MB / 611.6 temp 932 MB / 12,931 Dealbhor Gould 7/6		12.2 GB / 21 281,010 North	Bandovinde	Asath	nsk Devis
	(rest) 555 M8 / 853,45 Bacton 487 M8 / 853,45 Queves 476 M8 / 237, Credit 468 M8 / 703 4, +		TradingEvents	ops 4 2 68 / 758	Books	

Figure 3. Sandra Database through DB Browser, Usage Map view

The Browser is difficult to navigate through – objects are usually stored with a generated name, so searching for a specific trade without the exact title would be impossible. To access an object, a user needs to first be inside the correct database inside Sandra, and then navigate correctly through the subdirectories before filtering for the exact object name.

Searching by index can, in some cases, be more beneficial than going through the directory. Information in the Indices is stored in an index and can be accessed if the user knows what index they need to search in. The DB Browser also provides the ability to browse recent transactions, recent connections to applications, and message statistics.

2.3.2 Quack: Quartz Access Control

Quack controls access for groups of users to certain areas.

2.3.3 QZDev: Development application

QZDev is an application for the development of code projects (figure 4). Code can be written, reviewed, and put into production through this application. A user writes or changes code, "commits" it, and "pushes" it to another user or to be reviewed. This system designs means that collaboration and code sharing is very easy. The code is kept local to the user until it has been committed so that an error does not affect other systems. After review, it can be put into production. This system allows for quick turnaround, and changes can be pushed, reviewed, and put into production in half a day.



Figure 4. QZDev application

QZDev is the program we will be using for the development of the gadgets for this project. The program features searching, debugging, and testing capabilities that can be used in the development of coding projects. Some of the key features that were used during this project are on the left hand sidebar, which provides browsing through python files, and an outline of the current python document. This helps a developer to keep track of where they are in a large project. The searching capability was also heavily used in this project, as it can find the source code for any definitions that were imported into the current document. The most important tool of any development application is, of course, the debugger, which was heavily used over the course of this project to find errors.

2.3.4 DAG: Quartz Dependency Graph

DAG is a parse-time extension for python and contains a framework and programming model for developers. The model features subscriptions, layers, and filtering so that time dependent data can be updated without non-time dependent data having to be as well. Developers create DAG objects that are automatically serialized into the Sandra database.

2.3.5 AMPS: Real-time publish/subscribe

AMPS is a third party message system that allows users to subscribe or publish from real time data. For example, an application that looks at the last five trades completed would configure AMPS to notify the application when another trade had completed to keep the information updated.

2.3.6 Inform: Real-time Sandra notifications

Inform is a component of Quartz that uses the AMPS messaging system to notify of changes in the Sandra database based on the Sandra transactions. Inform allows users to subscribe to changes, and be notified of that change. In the case of an application, inform will tell an application that something had changed, and the application itself will call to update or make any changes. This application, used with the correct programming style, can allow programs to run quicker and more efficiently. Rather than updating every few seconds, the program can refresh only when a change has been made. This application can also be used to make a single change, rather than updating an entire batch of data, making it more efficient. For example, a program that displays the last ten events to occur in the database can add the latest event in and knock the oldest out instead of finding the last ten events and displaying them a second time.

This feature was used frequently in the gadgets created in this project, as many of them featured real-time information. The ability to make an update when a change has been made meant that the information displayed in our gadgets were as accurate and up to date as possible.

2.3.7 Bob: Quartz Batch Scheduler

Bob is the scheduling system for Quartz, controlled through the Bob Monitor. Bob jobs can be specified by creating job files in QZDev.

2.3.8 Qzap: Quartz Addressable Protocol

Qzap allows for users to translate and access information as if they were working in a web browser. Applications can be "Qzapified" to contain a Qzap URL and be accessed without losing the state of the application. For example, employee information pages are accessed by browsing through Qzap, or typing in the Qzap URL (figure 5). For convenience, Qzap saves a user's top preferences, so that a suggestion menu of links drops down from the top search bar in the same way most web browsers do. To come soon in Qzap is the ability to see your search history and save favorite pages.

* * * *	qzap://Yapa?mode=perso	nåxdispe	summaryðkuse	rendupuis			S 0 .
8	Yapa person * summery * N	icolas D	upuis - CREDIT	TRADING TECH BA	AC NAMRS	Help My Changes Review	s Tickets Updates Profi
Display Summary Corp. Entry Corp. Graph	Nicolas Dupuis CREDIT TRADING TECH BAC M Academic Noticing Char Powwow initials	AMRS Intern ni com (none)	Phone Location Office Usemame nbks	None UNKNOWN NY1-100-31-03 ndupuis 2k90b5	2		
Nicolas Dupuis: Script Changes Script Reviews	Quartz Developer Pr	ofile	Gender				
Tickets	Nicolas Dupuis		Tea	m Average		Community Ava	
lindates	0 (D 0/dav)		12.411.0 po	wwwws (12.2/day)		556.0 powwows (1.1/day)	
Patrones	0 commits			2,202.0 commits		417.1 commits	
Languner	ó files in Prod			102.0 files in Prod		46.8 Nes in Prod	
StatCVS	0 lines added (0 0/mmth) 0 lines removed (0 0/mmth)	33.5 8,209	32.0 lines add 0 lines reimove	ed (1,415 3/mmth) d (-1,186 0/mmth)	6,611	.2 lines added (428 0/mnltt) ines removed (-297 2/mnlth)	
Web Profile	0.0bps test modules (vs non)		50.9% test	modules (vs non)	5	0.6% test modules (vs non)	
Communicator	Focus none yet						
Corp. Peth							
Michael Dybno							
Bob Hillier							
iseme Munhead							
Peter / Bartek							
Nicolas Dupuis							
dum							

Figure 5. Employee Profile through Qzap

Most Quartz applications are addressable through Qzap, including the DB Browser. The Qzap application is particularly helpful as it not only provides users with the ability to easily navigate to certain applications, but also provides hyper-linking from text to launching a Qzap URL. Part of the Qzap code includes NavURL, which can be used to generate Qzap URLs and to launch them from their applications or pages. In this project, we use Qzap and NavURL to generate Qzap URLs for displayed information, so that a user can drill down into more information by clicking on the item they want to view.

2.3.9 Powwow: The Quartz communication system

Powwow is Quartz's built in communication system. In Powwow are different groups (similar to internet chat rooms) that users can join to speak with each other. Users can also create their own groups. They are used often for questions during any large assemblies or lectures that are offered, and as a quick and simple messaging system for users.

2.3.10 Quartz Deal Model: A format for all trades

To make the Quartz system as simple as possible, there needs to be consistency across the platform. For trades, the model to follow is the Quartz Deal Model, which formats trades into an object-orientated view (figure 6). In it, you have a Position (buy or sell). A Position is made up of some number of the same Instrument. A Book contains Positions, and a portfolio contains Books or other Portfolios. Altogether, this makes up a Deal. The content of a Deal is edited through the use of Events. For example, rather than editing the Deal so that we have 5000 Instruments instead of 10000, an event is created that does this. This keeps track of the history of a Deal, and prevents mistakes.



Figure 6. Quartz Deal Model

2.3.11 Dashboard: Dashboard of Quartz statistics

The Dashboards (Dashboard and Dashboard 2) contain gadgets that display information on Quartz statistics (figures 7 and 8). For example, one gadget has a tree map of Quartz users, to see what sections of the company are still not utilizing it, and what sections are using it frequently. There are also gadgets to display the machine's CPU and RAM usage, Apps that look at conflicts in Sandra, Last Review Requests, and more. The Dashboards can be loaded from a user's computer, but are also displayed on TVs on the 31st Floor of the Bank of America Tower, near the Quartz Core Team.

araps//Oart	board (cove_dach/board_1)		-		-	
	Oracle Oracle Marce Last Connector Queriz Argo 651 666 2013/10/20 3011/11 Queriz Argo 642 266 2013/10/20 3011/11 Queriz Argo 642 266 2013/10/20 3011/12 Queriz Argo 642 266 2013/10/20 3011/12 Queriz Argo 647 77 2013/10/20 3012/12/20 Queriz Argo 646 1.3816 7 2013/10/20 3012/12/20 Arto Juei 1.3816 7 2013/10/20 3012/12/20 3012/12/20 Wango Chern 8 1.2012/10/200 3012/12/20 3012/12/20 3012/12/20	Value Cerety Users Last Correction Quest Ave 2,746 L.946 2015 to 30 (articular Quest Ave 2,746 L.946 2015 to 30 (articular Quest Ave 1,747 L.147 2015 to 30 (articular Quest Ave 1 1 2015 to 30 (articular Quest 201 197 2015 to 30 (articular Quest 201 197 2015 to 30 (articular Quest 201 197 2015 to 30 (articular Avest 2011 2015 to 30 (articular 2015 to 30 (articular Max Multi 2011 2015 to 30 (articular 2015 to 30 (articular	Toda Wee Mon Yei Tot	ny 125 dk 449 dh 2,207 ar 9,916 al 9,916	181 (est.) #mare 64 / day sociaria 74 / day 27 / day 47 / day Stuff Update Rates	23 50 25 50 T3 0 100 0 0 000 75% 000 000 000 000 Memory Usage (this machine) CPU Usage
	Overholds Diff Diff Diff Diff Diff Diff Total Lingue 2,005 470 2005 100	Excellence Total 2 2015-50-30 Automatic Period Unrayee 12,144 4,104 3015-50-30 Automatic Period Unrayee 12,144 4,104 3015-50-30 Automatic Period Unrayee 12,144 4,502 3015-50-30 Automatic Martinet*: exercised plane (114) 145 art (100-1047) Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic Martinet*: exercised plane (114) 146 art (100-1111) Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic Martinet*: EXEC art (200-111) Automatic 1200-31 (200-111) Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic Martinet*: EXEC art (200-111) Automatic 1200-31 (200-111) Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic 3015-50-30 Automatic	Ananda Cosy Bro Watch 4 Cosy (C	a Chaudhun waar supporte Di 27pm - added om: Owners Cor	CREDIT PUB FIN TECH BAC Kind Paren property self to list e Library Application [Col Last Studf Update	Lipsus for Fairt
) +32pn y monts y y y y y y y y y y self Rates annn_reg ndrew Sken ew Request	Alterate semi cale and alterate and alterat	Cick this: How to Write a Dashboard Gedget Or Ge To: g2ap ildeshboard Spece For Rent	Ptervets Heat A.20 Heat Heat Heat Heat Heat Heat Heat Heat	Nees Nichael Dhune Alanarde Daofee Alanarde Daofee Alana Dhin Hansen Alamanda Cachte Guit Noart Nagbe Scott Baha Adoert Nagbe Atmole Gaba Naal D'Conor Lan Salmore	# Commits #14 400 309 307 284 284 284 284 284 284 285 283 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201	Top Developers: Bhreekly Commits 2. alonander dieetfer Stat 420 Porwerw M AUD
1			_		17	7

Figure 7. Quartz Dashboard



Figure 8. Quartz Dashboard 2

The Dashboards are desktop applications that, on startup, check a global gadget directory for what gadgets to display. A Developer could create their own Dashboard and gadgets by importing the base dashboard definitions and adding their own gadgets. All of the gadgets to be displayed need to be

referenced in the Core team's qzap_gadgets.py file, which acts as a sort of directory for a dashboard to see what gadgets are available, and then called from the dashboard main(). As long as the user does not commit or push any files, the dashboard and gadgets will remain local to them. An example of a dashboard main() calling one gadget named sandralastfivetrades that utilizes clickable Qzap URL links:

```
def main():
   gadgets = [
     credit.dashboard.gadgets.url.sandra_last_five_trades(),
   ]
   for navUrl in gadgets:
     level, elem = qzap.launchAppPageFromURL(str(navUrl))
   return elem
```

2.4 Python

The main programming language used for the project is Python. Comparing to other mainstream programming languages, Java and C++ for instance, Python requires less detailed syntax and provides better readability, and thus is easier to learn. It supports multiple programming paradigms, including both object-oriented and functional programming, making it a flexible and dynamic system. Python code can be packaged into standalone executable programs and runs on Windows, Linux/Unix, Mac OSX, and has been ported to the Java and .NET virtual machines. As such a versatile programming language, it is used often for the building of credit trading technology platforms and applications.

2.5 Application Development

Basic software development utilizes the waterfall model method when programming (figure 9). The waterfall method encompasses the following order of steps: project requirement, business analysis, software design, implementation, testing, and maintenance. Developers will typically follow this order of steps; however they can go back to prior steps when needed.



Figure 9. Waterfall Model

During the project requirement and business analysis phase, information is gathered about the required outcomes of the project. This is where the project scope, requirements, and timeline are initially decided upon. The software design phase is where all new features are discussed and a general design of the software will be created. During implementation is where the major software development and research takes place. Testing takes place concurrently with the implementation process. Any errors found are corrected and the performance of the product is tested across multiple platforms. Maintenance is carried out throughout the life of the product to ensure sustainability.

Chapter 3: Methodology

The goal of this project was to create a Credit Dashboard containing gadgets to display the overall health of the credit system of Quartz, and easily drill down into details when necessary. This tool is beneficial for users to be able to quickly identify and access any issues that may be occurring.

The following chapter explains the methods and processes followed to achieve the project goal of creating a Credit Dashboard. Project tasks were completed in a linear fashion, concurrent to the writing of the final report (figure 10). The final week of the project was dedicated to final revisions, and preparation for the final presentation on December 17th, 2013.



Figure 10. Project Timeline

3.1 Research

This project required a solid understanding of Quartz, Bank of America's all-in-one platform for developers, market data, trades, risk management, and approval workflows. As Quartz is an internal system, created and used exclusively by Bank of America, all research into the system was through the

available tutorials, provided by Bank of America for new hires to learn about the system. The tutorials are recorded presentations on different Quartz topics, by different members of the Quartz Core team. We began with the Introduction tutorial, and then jumped into relevant topics as necessary. Peter Bartek, our sponsor liaison for the project, gave us a brief overview and demonstration of the Quartz system in our first meeting (Meeting Logs, Appendix A).

Concurrently with watching the tutorial videos, we used Quartz Academy to learn about the system (figure 11). Quartz Academy is an interactive approach to learning the system, where important topics are broken down into modules and can be easily stepped through by the user. Topics include an introduction to Quartz, extensive Python tutorials, and how to use the development environment within Quartz.



Figure 11. Quartz Academy Example

However, the best method for learning Quartz was actually using it. We spent time clicking through the QZDesktop application and opening up applications to see what they did. For the applications we used frequently, such as QZDev, AMPS, and Sandra, we would go back to the tutorial videos and watch the videos relevant to the application for a more solid understanding of how to use it.

These three methods combined served to help us learn to easily navigate and use pertinent Quartz applications for the purpose of completing our project objectives (see Chapter 2.3).

3.2 Project Objectives

We identified two main objectives for the completion of our project goal to create a Dashboard to display the system health for Quartz:

- Identify gadget specifications that teams would find useful and relevant in their work
- Create a dashboard with gadgets to display relevant information

In this section we summarize the methods used in order to complete each of the objectives.

3.2.1 Identify Desired Gadgets

The Credit Dashboard project began as an idea from the mind of Peter Bartek, who thought that a dashboard displaying a high level view of Quartz with the ability to drill down into details would be beneficial for users to see what is happening from a system view. Coming into this project, Peter Bartek already had a few ideas for possible gadgets; last five trades, list of Queues, technical errors, and business alerts.

We met with different development teams' members to see what they would be interested in seeing on the Credit Dashboard (Meetings Log, Appendix A). Each interview started with the same outline of questions (Appendix B), but became more discussion-based as we learned about what role each member played and what they would like to see in a credit dashboard. We used the ideas and concepts talked about in these interviews to develop new gadgets for the Dashboard. Meetings occurred on a week-by-week basis as gadgets were developed, so that each meeting could start with a view of the most recent Dashboard and gadgets created.

3.2.2 Create Dashboard and Gadgets

For each desired gadget from the previous section, we met the need of the user by developing the gadget for the Dashboard. The creation of each gadget followed the same process from idea to finished product (figure 12).



Figure 12. Gadget Development Process

Idea

Each gadget starts as an idea – a vague solution to either a current problem or to fill the need of a user. For the majority of the gadgets developed, the idea came from one of the team members, to fill one of their needs. Other times, the idea was generated from our project group to fill some need of a user, which in most cases was the ability to see a high level view of Quartz with the ability to drill-down when needed.

Specifications

After we have an idea, we flesh out the specifications for the gadget. We aim to answer the following questions:

- What does the Gadget do?
- What teams/who will be using the gadget?
- What information do we need to gather for the gadget?
- What information will be displayed?
- How will the information be displayed?

Concept Art

Once there is an understanding of what need the gadget fulfills and what it should do, concept art is created for how we would like the gadget to look. The information needs to be displayed in a way that is easy to follow, uncluttered, and aesthetically pleasing. By creating a picture of our idea of the final product, the process of writing the code for the gadget is made simpler by having an understanding of the final picture. The concept art was usually created in Excel to allow for easy manipulation of tables and graphs as ideas changed throughout the process.

Proof of Concept

From the concept art, we create a gadget that fulfills the gadget specifications. This requires using QZDev to write, test, and revise the code through the Application Development Process (see Chapter 2.5) until we have a working product.

Revisions

Once we have a working prototype of the gadget, we bring the gadget back to the original user that desired it for a design review and gather feedback. If necessary, we continue revising until we have a product the user finds satisfactory.

Finished Gadget

The finished gadget is added to the Credit Dashboard and pushed into production.

3.3 Gadget Production

When a gadget is finished, it goes through a series of steps to be put into production. The code is first pushed to, and reviewed by, our group's immediate manager (and sponsor liaison), Peter Bartek. Bartek reviews the code before pushing it up to be into production. Later edits to production code can be made, pushed, and reviewed in the same manner.

When a gadget is in Production, it means that the code is globally available to Quartz users – everyone can view it, and edit it in their own user area, but cannot make global changes. The gadgets are globally available, such that when each user launches the Credit Dashboard Icon, it references the global gadgets available. Because users can see the base code, they have the ability to adapt it to their own purposes, or make revisions and optimizations that they think would make the Dashboard or gadget run more efficiently. Their edits can be pushed through to the core team to production.

Chapter 4: Gadget Specifications

This chapter explains the structure of the created Credit Dashboard, how the dashboard and gadgets interact with one another, and the details of the purpose, reasoning, and development of each gadget on the Credit Dashboard.

4.1 The Credit Dashboard

The Credit Dashboard displays gadgets containing a high-level view of the credit system's functions, and is the culmination of this project's goals. Each gadget contains separate information on different relevant systems inside the credit division at Bank of America, and the Credit Dashboard acts as a central location for the information (figure 13).



Figure 13. The Credit Dashboard

The Credit Dashboard is a desktop application, which enables a user to click the icon and have the program immediately launch. The icon to launch the Credit Dashboard is located inside QZDesktop, under the Credit/Beta path directory (figure 14).



Figure 14. QZDesktop with link to Credit Dashboard (Dashboard (QA))

Chapter 2.3.11 explains the two dashboards the Quartz Core Team created for displaying Quartz statistics, and how they work. The Credit Dashboard works in exactly the same way. When the Credit Dashboard icon is clicked, it launches the user's version of the Credit Dashboard (which is the global version that every user has access to, unless they have made edits). Inside the dashboard code, all libraries and definitions (including the definitions for each gadget) are imported from the base code directory that each user has access to. This allows the dashboard to inherit that code and use its functions and definitions. The dashboard then calls for what gadgets to be displayed using the definitions it inherited (figure 15).



Figure 15. Process of Launching the Credit Dashboard

When the dashboard is launched, each gadget is taken in turn and checked that it is inside the global gadget registry. If the gadget is inside, the gadget is loaded. If the gadget is not in the registry, the program will throw an error. Once all the gadgets have been loaded, the dashboard is launched. A Bob Job running in the background gathers the actual information for each gadget, and upon launch, the gadget pulls from the stored Bob Job so that it does not have to do this work itself.

Currently, there are seven gadgets (five unique gadgets) on the Credit Dashboard. Two more gadgets that were created by Peter Bartek as proof of concept for this project were removed when their information was incorporated into gadgets our team created. Gadgets can be edited, and more gadgets can be added at later dates, if necessary. The Credit Dashboard and corresponding gadgets' code is viewable to all users. A user can suggest revisions, or add in a gadget they have created, and push the idea to the Quartz Core team if they are interested in having it added to the global Credit Dashboard.

4.2 Gadgets

In this section, each gadget on the Credit Dashboard is detailed, from its initial conception as an idea, the need for it, and the process of development.

4.2.1 Sandra Database Last 5 Trades

Each time a trade occurs, it is stored in the Sandra database, viewable through the Sandra DB Browser. A trade first goes into a Queue, where it is processed or put into a Fails subdirectory if it cannot be processed. When finding a specific trade, a user has to open DB Browser, navigate to the correct database (as the DB Browser default is dev), locate Queues, and then search for their specific trade inside the Processed subdirectory.

Peter Bartek expressed that he would find it helpful to be able to see the last few trades from the Bloomberg Queue in the Sandra database without having to navigate through this system. In this case, a gadget that could display the most important information about the last 5 trades, and allow for the ability to drill down to view more information about each trade would be beneficial.

We looked at past trades to determine what information from a trade was most important to display to the user: the instrument type, size, position, price, and unique event ID. When looking at the gadget, users should have a broad overview of the trades, and are able to drill down to find what they want. Clicking on the Event ID should link them to the Sandra database and to the open trade they clicked on for easy access to information.

		La	ast 5 T	rades
B/S	Inst. Ty	p Size	Price	Event ID
BUY	BOND	6000	95	MKA_US-131002testz489-9b
SELL	BOND	200	101.3	MKA US-131002testz489-8p
BUY	BOND	2000	78	MKA US-130913test4-4np
SELL	BOND	50000	165.9	MKA_US-130913test4-4nd
SELL	BOND	3000	125.5	ALLQ-131004test00001

We first created a design for what we envisioned the final gadget to look like (figure 16).

Figure 16. Concept Art Last Five Trades

In the development of the gadget, we stayed true to the concept art with only a few minor changes (figure 17). We began by creating the table the information would go into, and then solving

how to fill the information with data, and where to take that data from. All of the information comes from Sandra Database, and inside each transaction object for a trade is where we found the specific information about the trade. Inside the Sandra browser, all the trades we wanted to display are located in the credit_dev database, inside Queues/Processed. Once we had filled the table with the last five trades (with the correct information), we used Inform (See Chapter 2.3.6) to be notified whenever a new transaction is added into the database. When a new transaction is entered, the gadget again looks for the last five trades and fills the table with those. The last piece to be worked on was creating hyperlinks in the table, as Quartz uses Qzap URLS as opposed to those you would enter into a web browser. For each trade in the table, a URL is first generated and then used to hyperlink the text to the transaction in the Sandra Database.

	B/S	InstType	Price	Size	Link
٩					
	BUY	BOND	97.6875	2000000.0	credit bonds
	SELL	BOND	97.69921875	2000000.0	credit bonds
	SELL	BOND	82.21875	300000.0	credit bonds
	SELL	BOND	115.947	15000.0	credit bonds
	SELL	BOND	128.9	10000.0	credit bonds
_					
35	t trade fi	rom credit_bor	nds_tsf_xml_bbg	at: Tue Nov	12, 2013 1:43pm
				-	

Figure 17. Sandra Last 5 Trades Gadget

The size of the columns in the table can be adjusted by dragging the column divider, but will reset to default size after the Credit Dashboard is closed and reopened. The trades themselves are not in any particular order, so clicking on the column headers can allow you to sort the table by that header. The information is updated when the Credit Dashboard is opened, and any time a new transaction is added in the Sandra database.

After a design review, we determined that it would be helpful to have an intermediate page between the link in the table, and the actual item in the Sandra database (figure 18). The page between would contain more information about the trade than the table, but less than the item in the database. The page also provides a link to the item in the database, if the user needs to find something specific that wasn't deemed necessary for the intermediate page.

Or Alethia Dale	listo - 10790			a 0 1
00110100110	anapo//Alexabyta	WetsTpaths/537Queue/537credit_soud	Elist-Bib.gdd/rects/strad_bindEffantas/Wikigdd/rects/	·
	Alembers (starts -)			- taker treated times
Qz				
Di linese lety	Arr.	Velue		
19.8	Action	BLW.		
. co speaki	Steen .	nëw		
	Dita	190.327		
	Quinter	10000.0		
	Date	3013-13-12 14/9/00		
	7,44	RDND		
	Teler	175		
	Exercity	uso		
	Settement Amount	20182.48		
	Ceabore	625		
	Counter Party			
	Trailer Account	HMTS		
	Issue Date	2013-08-23		
	Dent Auroral	10		
	Maturity Dop. Date	2018-08-08		
	Receibers D	617837929		
	Econities Sel Number	00640041111047386850		
	Security 10	(BARGERS)		
	Courter Party Account #	88913		
	decisional Internet	16.52		
	Descinal	10000.0		
	Real	ALC REPORTED		
	Day Name	LAC BEING LONGTRON CORRECTION IN		
		and the second s		

Figure 18. Intermediate Trade Page

The trade page takes an object path, and fills a QZtable with the fields we have chosen for that object. The table is then "Qzapified" so that it pops up in the Qzap browser and has an addressable URL.

4.2.2 Blotter Last Five Events

Gokul Menon and Peter Bartek are continuing to develop an electronic blotter, named CST Sales Tool, for the sales and trading teams that would suit their needs (figure 19). Many of the intended users still use paper blotters, and do not have any inclination to change their personal recording system to incorporate an electronic blotter unless it has qualities they find desirable. One of the popular qualities that has been incorporated is the ability to see past trades – whether they were completed or not. Current systems allow you to see past completed trades, but traders find it helpful to keep track of which clients they were not able to close with for any future interactions they may have with them. The more information they have about a client, the better they can tailor their sales to them. From this, Menon determined that it would be helpful to have the last five trades readily available to view.

	-	-	SPENTING	ter the Next State	orenar Conc.													- 1000 1000	
Callain	in linkotta	• • I CST	Sale: Soft	÷.														Sent/se	
QuilkE	- nin	and the	-			25.771	Man No.	112.01	10.514			0.233		87110		1223			
Selected	8. 311	4107 .0	ave code	tree.		Security	Contraction of		Dr Oblich		66 V 1 6 19 6	0.992.5	OBC 13 GP C	CHINNES	GD BY BODH	and /			
Rentrat:	: +6(5) <	Sare const	to comparis/	(pervice/suit + /r	trint) And failed	A manage and the	print signification	er it-du	क्रम् विद्य	intendo () das a	to (ner-years)	र स्टब्स व	-Cone;						
Quarte	Entry	Other name				100 40	\$ 330M 100:38	9°51538	1230 07 0.	0-130k - H									
Tick	at 1																		
1 5	P 0.	2	let	цяту Вен			CientName :				Intering	Type	MIISED						
Price:	0.0		Sec	unity ist i	aire failer gand	NEW	ClientED	Eine	(Steel		Contra	ents :							
Seat	0	1	ter Set	tisDate: D	Citian 13	(H)	Salecht	077	107										
		-	9. J. M.	100 H 10	Contraction of the second			317.4	42017				Ning!						
mong i	and share	Det P										I LCAS	10.0						
ΘĒ-	-Da	sh																	
Botter I	-Da	sh anar 1 et	ythen File	et Permasure Alert Sound	1 [277]	Chie A	iert After (sect)	15	filter	Netts									
Botter J Ticket P Ticket P	-Da Live N Popup Al	sh to Fibe 1 et Prod	Python File Corp Taxe	er Permasun Alert Sochd Liet/Dir Act	Last Ct: Act	Close A Bid State	lert After (sect) Vie -	15 	tater Can	Netta Pad	čovy	Lega	Q17 000	Quotest	34	Pa Cox	Dires	Clarit	
Botteri Fichart P Type *	-Da Live N Popup Al Pat	sh to Fitter 1 Prod CHECHT	Python File Tane 15:20-12	Alert Social Livet Dir Act MISSED	Last Ck Act HESSED	Cisis A Did State	iert After (sec.c) Vie . D/Y	15 Thr 	Can	Nata Pat	204 100	Legp 1/1	Q14 000 30.000	Quotest	24 2	Pe Cov	Dires	Cleat:	
Botteri Tubat P Type P Dri Ord	-Da Live No Popup Al Plat Of TBG	sh to Fitter 3 ert Prod CHEOIT DIMF	Taue	Alert Social Alert Social Lart DY Art MISSED DONE	Last Cit Act Hesseo Gibit	Close A Did State HOT DOME DOME	iert After (secc) Vie D/Y B/Y	15 . Ter .3%	Can 1.17	Martin Plat UPArr 12 200er 18	6ay 180 160	Jegp 1/1 1/1	Qty 000 30.000 34.000	Quoted 1	18 ₁₆ 17 194, 52	Pe Cov 7 2	Diss# 0	Claret 1 DWH CP O-DHA DITENATIONAL (JR) LIN 1 DWH CP 25A45	
Bottesi Tusket P Type * Drij Ord	-Da Live No Popup Al Mat DBG BBG	sh to Fitter 1 Prod CHEOIT DBUP 3,0x	2ythan File Taw 15:30 12 10:45:32 12:34:13	Alert Sound Alert Sound Latt Dr Act MtSBD DONE DONE	Last Oc Act Histoco Gent Sevit	Close A End State HOT DOME DOME DOME	lert After (secc) (de . Buy Buy Sta	15 Te 3N OA UKT	120m Cyn 1.371 6.125	Martin Pact UKerr 13 SCarr 18 22Mart 18	Coy 100 100 729	1/1 1/1 1/1	01y 000 90,000 90,000 11,415	Quoted 7 N N	18% 18 19 19 19	Ps Cov c 2 3	28x8 0 0	Clarit I SMAR (P. C-dria Shternational Bac) Un I SMAR (P. SEAE) I SASSAT SWEETHENT TURKS NAMAGENE	
Bottesi Tuskat P Type * Dra Ord Ord Ord	-Da Live No Popup A Pat 186 186 186	sh to Fiber 1 Prod Orecoit DUCF 3.Da BUOY	Python File Serie Taue 15:30:12 10:46:12 10:46:13 10:46:14 10:46:14	Alert Sound Latt Dr Act MISED DONE DONE DONE	Last Oc Act Hisseo Gent Sent Hiss	Close A bid State Not Done Done Done Done Done	ert After (secc) Me . Buy Stat Buy Stat	15 . Ter . 394 . OA. . UCTL . OB.	Ease Can 1.37 6.125 0.25	Varits Hist Ufferr 11 20art0 12Art0 13ay19	Coy 100 100 100 100	Legp 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Q1y 089 90.000 94.000 11.415 15.100	Quotest Y N N N	124 13 04.5 135.4 105.4 105.4	Pe Cov 7 2 5 5	Dira# 0 0 0	Class: 1-BMR CP CH2NA INTERNATIONAL (JAC) LIN 1-BMR CP CH2NA INTERNATIONAL (JAC) LIN 1-BMC CP 2014 INTERNATIONCOMMUNICATION 1-BMC CP CH2NA INTERNATIONCOM (JAC)	
Botteri Tuskat P Type * Dri Ord Ord Ord Ord	-Da Live No Popup Al Pat BBG BBG BBG	sh Prod Prod DUP DUP DUP DUP DUP DUP DUP DUP	Aythan File Sec Tase 15:30-12 10:40-10 10:40-10 10:44-10 10:27:47	Permasum Alert Sound Lant Dr Act MESED DONE DONE DONE	Last Cit Act Hesseo Gent Sevit Sevit Sevit	Class A bid Date Done Done Done Done	iert After (secs) Vie , BUY SELL BUY BUY	15 . Ter . 31H . OA. . UKTL . OB. . SPGB	Either Can 1.371 6.125 0.35 1.3	Martis Hist 184er 13 3Gart 39 22Mart 39 13apr 19 35Apr 21	Coy 100 100 107 8.8 8.8	Lega 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Qay Veq 90.000 90.000 11,415 16,180 30,000	Quotest Y N N H	Pg 30 96.5 105.0 96.95 112.1	Pa Cov o 2 5 5	Dina# 0 0 0 0 0	Clant: 1 SMIR OF O-STAL STRESSATIONAL (JK) LM 1 MIRO OF SEALS 1 MIRO STATISTICS MANAGEMENT 1 MIRO STATISTICS SATISTICS 1 MIRO STATISTICS S.S.A.	
Bottes Ticket P Type * Disk Disk Disk Disk Disk Disk Disk Disk	-Da Live No Popup A Pat Big Big Big Big Big Big Big Big Big Big	Sh Prod Prod CRESHT DLUP SJSr RUSY DUSY	Pythan File Sec Tase 15:30 12 10:40 10 10:54 10 10:54 10 10:07:47 10:07:40	Permason Alert Sound Lant Dy Ant MESED DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE	Last Dr. Act HISSED GENT SENT SENT SENT	Class A brid State DOM DOM DOM DOM DOM DOM DOM	lert After (sect) Vie BUY Stu BUY BUY BUY	15 Ter JHH CA UKTE OR SPGB FHTH	Eater Can 3.370 6.035 6.35 6.35 6.35 6.35 6.35 6.35 6.35 6.	Martis Hat USAart3 22Aart3 Liap19 35Apr21 294or24	Coy 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Qay 000 30,000 30,000 11,415 18,180 30,000 90,000	Quoted Y N N N N	2% 18 96.5 195.9 162.1 98.8	Ps Cov σ 2 3 5 3	Dina# 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Clent I SWR CP CHINA STEENATIONAL BAILUN I SWR CP CHINA STEENATIONAL BAILUN I SKOOT SWISTNEST FURIS NAVAGENE I MARCO SWISNESS 3.A. I DIRKOT SWISNESS 3.A. I DIRKOT CHITTA, HWASERET LLC	
Bottes Ticket P Type * Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra Dra	Appup Al Pat Of BEG BEG BEG BEG BEG BEG	sh to Fiber 2 Prod DEUF 3.0x BUOV DEUF 3.0x BUOV DEUF 3.0x BUOV 3.0x BUOV 3.0x BUOV 3.0x	Python File 19:30 12 10:46 12 10:46 13 10:46 19 10:27.47 10:07.40 10:03.12	Alert Social LartDy Act DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE DONE	Last Dr Ad Hisseo Gaur Sevi Sevi Sevi Gaur	Chas A Brd State Done Done Done Done Done Done Done Don	ert After (sect) Vie Buy Stil Buy Stil Buy Sty Sty Sty Sty	15 Ter JHN OA URTT OR SPGB PRTB URTT	Eliter Can 1.37 6.125 0.35 1.5 2.27 0.125	Martis Plat 204er 13 204er 13 224er 13 234er 21 294er 21 294er 21 294er 21	20y 100 100 107 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105	1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Qay 000 90,000 94,000 11,415 16,183 30,000 90,000 14,465	Quoted Y N N H H N	24 18 19.5 195.5 195.9 112.1 95.9 407	Ps Cov c 5 5 5 5 5	Dica # 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Classic I SMIR OF CHENA DITERNATIONAL 6.8() UN I WARDOR SMIRTHERT FURCH ANNACEME I MARDER SMIRTHERT FURCH ANNACEME I SMIRTHER FURCH ANNALEMENT LLC I SMIRTH CHETTRENT FURCHER FUNCH SMIRTH SMIRTHERT FURCH ANNALEMENT I SUBJECT SWIRTHERT FURCH I SWIRT CHETTRE I SWIRT CHETTRE I SWIRT SWIRTHERT FURCH I SWIRT SWIRTHERT I SWIRT SWIRTHERT I SWIRT SWIRTHERT I SWIRT I SWIRT I SWIRT SWIRTHERT I SWIRT I SWI	
Biotteri Tusket P Type * Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri Dri	Aller No Popus Al Pat Rec Rec Rec Rec Rec Rec	sh to Fiber 2 Prod DECF 2.04 BUOV DECF 2.05 BUOV DECV 2.05 BUOV 2.05 BUOV 2.05 BUOV 2.05 BUOV	Python File 15:30 12 11:45:32 12:54:13 10:44:18 10:27:47 10:07:40 10:02:13 10:24:59	Permasen Alert Sound Laer Dy Act Doke Doke Doke Doke Doke Doke Doke Doke	Last Oc Act Hesseo Gaur Sent Sent Sent Sent Sent Sent Sent Sent	Chas A Brid State Done Done Done Done Done Done Done Don	lert After (secc) kile Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy Buy	15 Ter 3M OA URTE OR SPGB PRTR URTE STT	(120m) Can 1.177 6.125 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.3	Martis Plat 204er 23 204er 23 224er 23 224er 24 224er 24 224er 21 224er 21 224er 21 224er 21	Coy 100 100 107 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108	1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Qty 000 90,000 11,415 16,100 90,000 11,415 90,000 11,415 90,000	Quoted Y N N N N N N N N N N N	24 18 19.5 195.5 195.5 112.1 95.5 112.1 95.5 102.7 7.0	Pa Cov ct S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	Dica # 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Clarit I SWIR OF O-SINA SHTERIA TONAL (JR) LM I WAR OF STARS I SECOND STREET THE NAME AND A I SECOND SHITMEDERS A I SECOND SHITMEDERS A I SECOND SHITMEDERS A I SECOND SHITMEDERS A I SECOND SHITMEDER THESE SHARASHES I OCH COMMENT LIMITED	
Biotteri Tudat P Type * Dis Old Did Did Did Did Did Did Did	Alter No Popus Al Pat A	sh to Fiber 1 Prod CREDIT DIUF 3.0r 500r 500r 500r 500r 500r 500r 500r 5	Python File Tase 15:30-12 10:46-13 10:46-13 10:46-13 10:46-13 10:27-47 10:07-40 10:02-49 00:02-12	A Permanen Alert Sound Laer Dy Act. DOIR DOIR DOIR DOIR DOIR DOIR DOIR DOIR	4 Laaf (2): Act 1913/20 424/7 32517 32517 32517 32517 32517 32517 32517 32517	Close A Brid State Done Done Done Done Done Done Done Don	ert After (sec) Ve B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y B/Y	15 Ter 3PH CA. UKTL OR SPGB PHTM UKTL STF BTF	Can 3.377 6.03 6.13 6.13 6.13 6.13 6.13 6.13 6.13 7 6.13 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Varts Hat DHar 13 20ar 31 224ar 33 224ar 33 234ar 33 234ar 33 234ar 34 234ar 347 234ar 347 234ar 347 2347577777777777777	Coy 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1	Qty 000 90,000 11,415 16,180 90,000 11,465 96,000 12,465 96,000	Quotest Y N N N N N N N	12% 18 196.5 195.1 195.9 11 11 195.9 107 105.0 107 105.0 107 105.0 107 105.0 107 105.0 107 105.0 100.0 105.0 100.0 105.0 100.0 105.0 100.0	Ps Cov ct 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	Dive 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Clant I SMIK OF O-SINA STRENATIONAL (JK) LIN I MIKO OF SINAEL I SISSET SWESTHERT TURISS MANAGEME. I MIKO SWESTHERT TURISS MANAGEMENT I SECONT CANTER MANAGEMENT I SIGNET SWESTHERT TURISS MANAGEMENT I LON COMMITTE LIMITED I OHIO CASET MANAGEMENT	

Figure 19. CST Sales Tool Electronic Blotter

When an event is created in the blotter, it is saved as either an event of a new Deal, or an event of an existing Deal (see Chapter 2.3.10). Every CST Sales Tool Event begins with the prefix CSTSales, so when retrieving the data, we filtered the events inside Deal Events by those beginning with the same prefix, to look at only the events pertaining to the electronic blotter. This way, the events displayed are the last five trade events submitted.

Like with the Sandra Database Last 5 Trades (see Chapter 4.2.2), the position, instrument type, price, and quantity were the main pieces of information to display. Because the two gadgets are so similar in purpose, the initial design remained the same (figure 16). Links to each specific event is also included, like the previous gadget. Through the development process, we later added in new fields that were thought to be pertinent to a clear overview of an event, such as the Client, Region, and Status of the trade. Our final design and gadget looks very similar to that of the Sandra Database Last Five Trades (figure 20).

	Status	Sales	Client	Region	B/S	Price	Qty	Link
Ŷ								
ķ	MISSED	BINDI TRIV	ATOM CAPI	EMEA	Sell	102.200	100000.000	488-6h59h
	MISSED	BINDI TRIV	ATOM CAPI	EMEA	Buy	102.200	100000.000	488-6h59g
	ACCEPTED	BINDI TRIV	LONDON &	EMEA	Buy	256	600000,000	488-6qvy3
	ACCEPTED	BINDI TRIV	DBS BANK L	EMEA	Buy	500	30000.000	488-6qvp8
	MISSED	BINDI TRIV	DBS BANK L	EMEA	Sell	300	50000.000	488-6gvmk

Show the last five CSTSales events



4.2.3 Last Ten Alerts

As part of an initiative to increase the number of users relying on Quartz, Bartek believes it would be helpful to have a gadget that would display recent alerts. Alerts are stored inside the Sandra database under Support and Alerts. From there, the object contains the subject of the alert (usually an error message), what application it occurred in, and several other details that are helpful for resolving issues. The alert first goes into a queue, and is later moved to Processed or Ignored queues depending on how the alert was recalculated. If an application has an error, there is code available to configure the application to send an alert into the Sandra database's Alerts Queue to be read.

In some of the support teams for Bank of America's applications, errors that occur have to be found and the error log sent to another user (usually via email) if they want to share it. Bartek believes this system could be improved by configuring an application to send an alert to Sandra, and then having a gadget that would display the last ten alerts for a user to easily see. This way, a user has real-time alerts updates, and links to the Sandra database alert. Ideally, Bartek hopes that soon users will go directly to Sandra for Alert information rather than going through error logs.

We met with Mike Yang, a Technology Programming Associate at Bank of America, and asked if he would be willing to send alerts from some of his applications into Sandra, to work with our gadget. He was interested in the idea of being able to easily see the last ten alerts and have links to the alert information readily at hand, rather than finding out later when an error log was emailed to him. When starting the development of the gadget, we first designed something basic that would reveal the details of an alert, what type of alert it was, and a link to more information (figure 21).

Last 10 Alerts			
Туре	Subject	Link	
Business	OPENSTP - Failed Trade from Blomberg	qzap://DbBro	
Technical	Failing items - Error determining value for reques	qzap://DbBro	
Technical	exception amps client is not connected	qzap://DbBro	
Business	MKA Trade - Amends/Cancel are not supported	qzap://DbBro	
Technical	Could not find valid instrument	qzap://DbBro	
Technical	<graphnodevalueexception< td=""><td>qzap://DbBro</td></graphnodevalueexception<>	qzap://DbBro	
Business	OPENSTP - PTF Trade - We received an unsup	qzap://DbBro	
Business	OPENSTP - Failed Trade from Blomberg	qzap://DbBro	
Business	OPENSTP - MKA Trade - Slate code with prefix	qzap://DbBro	
Technical	Trade Validation Error	qzap://DbBro	

Figure 21. Concept Art for Last Ten Alerts

Code for sending errors into Sandra alerts has already been developed, and only needed to be added into the production of Yang's applications. While waiting for him to work on this, we created a gadget that would take Alerts from one of the already available directories, using the same methods as used for the Sandra Last Five Trades gadget. The gadget displays alerts from all paths inside the Alerts Queue, meaning items from Processed, Failed and Signed Off queues inside Alerts are displayed in the table. We added in more fields we found relevant during the development, the most important being the level of the alert. The final prototype of the gadget contained real-time information about the last ten alerts, including the subject, alert type, level of alert, details, and a link to the alert inside the Sandra Database (figure 22).

Trade Message	Alert Type	M	Details	₽
7				1
> <u>Tester 488-b25</u>	Business	ERROR	bad things	
Tester 488-b24	Technical	WARN	bad things	
Tester 488-b23	Business	ERROR	bad things	
Tester 488-b22	Technical	WARN	bad things	
Tester 488-a26	Technical	WARN	bad things	L
Tester 488-a27	Business	ERROR	bad things	
Tester 488-a24	Technical	WARN	bad things	
Tester 488-a25	Business	ERROR	bad things	
			6	Ь
last updated at: Mor	Dec 09, 2013	1:40pm		_
		Sh	low the last 10 alerts	s

Figure 22. Gadget for Last 10 Alerts

After a Design Review, it was decided that the Alerts Gadget could be improved by incorporating a notification that would pop up in the bottom right hand corner of the screen when a new Alert was added to the Queue (figure 23). This way, if users wanted to deal with alerts right away, rather than when they happened to look at the gadget, they could be quickly informed.



Figure 23. Notification of new Alert in Last 10 Alerts Gadget

To create the popup notifications with new Alerts, we used Growl, a third party notification system used by Bank of America developers. If multiple Alerts occur while the Dashboard is not running, all Alerts will display when the Dashboard is next launched (figure 24).



Figure 24. Alerts notifications when Launching Dashboard after new Alerts occur

4.2.4 Trades/Alerts Status

Viewing the last entered trades, or latest alerts gives a brief look into the details of the system, but Bartek explained that most people do not need to see details, but a broad spectrum of information to show that the system is working well. To create a high-level view of the system, we needed something that looked at all the information in a more expansive view, and simplified it in such a way to be visually appeasing. In this case, we decided a table of the Processed, Failed, Ignored, and Signed Off trades and Alerts would allow users to see just how much is being done, without going too far into details (figure 25). As an added visual aid, we decided to include a bar graph of the same information (figure 26), but as a separate gadget. Both gadgets display the same information, in two different mediums.

Trades Status			
	credit_bonds_ptf	credit_bonds_tsf_xml_bbg	Alerts
Processed	1054	14754	1551
Failed	78	52647	0
Ignored	0	5815	0
Signed Off	0	0	0

Figure 25. Concept Art for Trades Status table



Figure 26. Concept Art for Trades Status Graph

The information displayed in the graph and table is all information we have accessed for gadgets in the previous sections. The Queues of trades and Alerts are all located inside the Sandra Database, under Queues and Support. The main obstacle of this gadget was to bring all this information, from a few different subdirectories, into one location for easy viewing. Once the information was in a table, the graph was more easily created. Examples of created graphs on gadgets were available through demo Uls, and by finding the source code for Quartz Dashboard gadgets with graphing capabilities. The initial gadgets looked very similar to our concept art (figures 27 and 28).

Status •	cb_tsf_xml_bbg	cb_ptf	alerts
Processed	4791	1054	1551
Ignored	7312	0	0
Fails	10624	78	0

Figure 27. Initial Trades Status Table Gadget



Figure 28. Initial Trades Status Graph Gadget

Because the cb_tsf_xml_bbg (BBG) has so much more data inside of it, the other Queues are dwarfed by comparison. We decided that adding charts under each Queue for their information would provide more readability, without detracting from the fact that there are quite a bit more transactions in the BBG Queue. Bartek also created an Archived Section in the Queues to throw old data, so that it would not get stuck inside the directories displayed in the graphs. Overall, the final gadgets contained a table of the Queues and Alerts items, pie charts displaying each Queue, and a bar chart containing the information from all three – the two Queues and Alerts (figures 29 and 30).



Figure 29. Trades Status Table and Chart Gadget



Figure 30. Trades Status Bar Chart Gadget.

4.2.5 Blotter User Statistics

With the recent development of the CST Sales Tool described in Chapter 4.2.2, it is important to keep track of how much the application is being used. The blotter is currently still in beta, but as it develops, Menon said it would be helpful to see how many users are using this application. If very few users are using it, the application may need to be changed or scrapped, and if a lot of users are using it, it may need maintenance or monitoring.

Quartz already keeps track of the number of unique users and launches of different applications, but both Menon and Bartek said it would be more helpful to keep track of the number of users entering information in the blotter, as opposed to just launching it. Additionally, users do not necessarily have to launch the application from its icon, as it has a unique URL that can be navigated to through any open Quartz browser. We met with Fred Hsu, a member of the Core Team that developed Quartz and Qzap, to see how we could get statistics on accessing a specific URL (see Meetings Log, Appendix A). Hsu explained that users' most recent one hundred browsing preferences from Qzap is saved to allow for easily accessing of recent and most visited pages. When a URL has not been visited enough, it drops out of the bottom of the one hundred saved to make room for one that has been. If this information is stored, it can be used to create user statistics for connections to the CST Sales Tool URL.

This gadget has a much farther reaching scope than just looking at the number of users accessing the electronic blotter. Once you have a method of determining the users navigating to CST Sales Tool, you could branch to pages inside that one application to get an idea of what features are being used. Additionally, this same approach can be brought to any other Qzap application to allow for more accurate application usage data.

To display the usage of the CST Sales Tool, we decided we should use a tree map (figure 31). This would allow for users to see the use of the blotter first among regions, and then different desks of trading, to the users that are utilizing the program. Each section of the tree map is based on how many users are in that region or desk; larger sections have more traders than smaller sections. The color indicates the usage of the application; darker colored sections use the application more than their lighter counterparts. The tree maps used by the current Dashboard (see Chapter 2.2.11) displays the users using Quartz from the previous day, and when the next day's statistics come through, the old information is discarded. Demo UI for creating a tree map was already available for us to use.



Figure 31. Concept Art for User Statistics Gadget

In order to display the activity in the application over time we first needed to create a Bob Job (see Chapter 2.3.7) that will capture the statistics (users connecting to the CST Sales Tool URL) for the day and store them for our use. Once we have this information stored, we can add all users' connections, unique users, and any other statistics we find important. The most recent day's information could be used for the tree map, and the backlog of user statistics could be used to create graphs over time for more visuals on user statistics (figure 32).



Figure 32. Concept Art for User Statistics Graph over time

What we have found with the User Statistics gadgets, is that there are not a lot of people currently using the blotter. That is to be expected, as the blotter is only in production in London, and is still being developed for other offices. Because of this, the tree map displayed for this gadget is considerably blank (figure 33). The only section colored is Bartek's department, where he, Menon, and our project group have been using the application.



Figure 33. Initial User Statistics Gadget

After a design review, it was decided that we did not need to display all of the departments, but only the ones relevant to business as we only really cared about how many people are utilizing the electronic blotter in London offices, where it is currently in production. Narrowing down the departments displayed allows for a better overall picture of the adaptation of the electronic blotter. Rather than use the default hierarchy from the demo UI, we created our own starting at the top with Graham Hill, the Head of the Security Products Sales, and the topmost of the business hierarchy inside Bank of America. In Quartz's Qzap browser we can see all the people he directs, and each person that they direct under him. This information was used for confirmation, and the actual data pulled for the hierarchy came from the Sandra employee profiles. When we had a working tree map using this hierarchy, we checked it against the Qzap profiles to be sure of accuracy. The finished tree map is a lot clearer to see, and displays only the business departments that we want to monitor for use of the electronic blotter (figure 34).



Figure 34. Users Statistics Gadget

The gadget to display the User Statistics over time also has very low numbers, but is much more interesting to look at (figure 35). Right now, the number of users and launches are low (less than ten per day), but when usage of the application picks up, this graph will be more helpful to understanding how many users are launching the application. The green line on the graph indicates the number of launches per day, and the red dot indicates users. When the electronic blotter application eventually goes into production in New York offices, this will be helpful to see how many people are using it, and how often they launch it.



Figure 35. User Statistics Graph over Time Gadget

4.2.6 Queues

Before the start of our work on this project, Bartek created two gadgets for proof of concept that a Credit Dashboard could be made. He created two corresponding gadgets to display the Queues of Alerts, so that users could see the number of Alerts at any given point, which we improved upon with the Trades/Alerts Status Gadgets in Chapter 2.2.5.

In the first gadget, there is a table for the number of Processed transactions (or Trade Messages) in the LVT_credit_dev database Queue (figure 36). Clicking on the tile of the gadget launches Qzap and brings the user to the Queues directory in Sandra.

Queue	TradeMsgs 🔻		
/Queues/	1,054		
Last updated at: Tue Nov 26, 2013 10:12am			
credit_bonds_ptf TradeMsgs in LVT_credit_de			

Figure 36. Queues Gadget of Processed Trade Messages

The second gadget displays the number of Processed Alerts for three different Queues directories (figure 37). Clicking the tile of the gadget will launch Qzap and bring the user into the Alerts directory.



Figure 37. Queues Gadget for Processed Alerts

The information displayed in these gadgets was later incorporated into the Trades/Alerts Status gadgets in Chapter 4.2.4, and removed from the Credit Dashboard.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations

Over the seven weeks this project took place, we have created a Credit Dashboard that acts as a central location for seven gadgets designed to aid in monitoring system health. Though Bank of America has a recently developed yet sophisticated system for market data, risk measures, and approval workflow, named Quartz, it lacks a thorough monitoring of that system. The idea behind this project is system transparency; users need to have the ability to see what is happening within different aspects of Quartz in a manner that is both easy and convenient.

The Credit Dashboard fulfills this need through the display of the gadgets. Each gadget monitors a different application or queue, aimed to support different teams in the Global Markets Research Technology (GMRT) division within Bank of America. The benefits of the Credit Dashboard are twofold; the gadgets provide easily-read system information to help teams monitor their applications, and the Dashboards created by the Quartz Core Team are exposed as a viable method for monitoring system processes.

We recommend that Peter Bartek, our sponsor liaison and manager of this project, continue to contact different GMRT teams to talk about the Credit Dashboard and ask if they would have any interest in utilizing the Credit Dashboard. We have seven gadgets that can be demonstrated to potential users, and even adapted to their needs if they were interested in using it. The Alerts gadget specifically may interest potential users, as it can be easily customized for a user to receive alerts from an application they have developed.

When talking with different teams to gather interest in the dashboard, we recommend that ideas for gadgets might need to be gathered. Appendix B contains an interview outline that can be used to start a discussion for possible future gadgets. If at all possible, gadgets should be developed for teams, or instructions for teams to create their own if they are interested in using the Credit Dashboard.

For future gadgets, easy customization should be kept in mind during development. Current gadgets can be edited to a user's specific application or queue through revision of the gadget code, but a UI component to do this on the gadget would make it much easier for users to adopt the Credit Dashboard into their work.

If GMRT teams do take interest in using the Credit Dashboard and having more customizable gadgets created, we would recommend that the Dashboard itself also become customizable for users. Our group's vision of the final Credit Dashboard would be a blank Dashboard with an option to add gadgets (figure 38). When adding gadgets to the Dashboard, users could customize them to display the applications and queues that they want to see, and not just the ones we have developed for different teams. Users should be able to organize and group the gadgets however is best for them, and if they close the Dashboard it should retain these preferences for its next launch. Gadgets could be kept in a directory to be added, or development of a "Gadget Store" could occur that would allow for browsing and adding gadgets in the same easy manner as App Stores.



Figure 38. Concept for Blank Customizable Dashboard

A customizable Dashboard would help users monitor information pertinent to their interests. A large selection of gadgets and intuitive easy-to-use interface will help "sell" the Dashboard to potential users. As more users work with the Dashboard, the more gadgets can be created and resources devoted to improving the Dashboard. The final product would be a customizable monitoring system for users to keep track of applications, queues, alerts, and anything else that a gadget can be designed for.

References

America, B. o. Our History and Heritage.

Bank of America: A History. (August 24th, 2011). The Telegraph.

Growl Team, Growl (2004-2011),, Growl.info

GT&O Divisions. Retrieved 11/1/2013, 2013. Bank of America Flagscape

- James, B. R., & James, M. (1954). The Story of Bank of America: Biography of a Bank. New York, New York: Bank of America N.T. and S.A.
- Johnston, M. (1990). Roller Coaster: The Bank of America and the Future of American Banking. New York, New York: Ticknor & Fields.
- Merton, R. C. (1974). On the pricing of corporate debt: The risk structure of interest rates*. *The Journal* of *Finance*, 29(2), 449-470.
- PBS. A.P. Giannini. Who Made America?. PBS.org
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. AMPS Real-time Publish/Subscribe. *Quartz Project Documentation*.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Bob The Quartz Batch Scheduler. Quartz Project Documentation.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Dag The Quartz Dependency Graph. *Quartz Project Documentation*.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Hugs Quartz Grid Scheduler. Quartz Project Documentation.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Inform: Real-Time Sandra Notifications. *Quartz Project Documentation*.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Quack Quartz Access Control. Quartz Project Documentation.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Qzap Quartz Addressable Protocol. *Quartz Project Documentation*.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. QzDesktop Launches Quartz Applications on Windows. *Quartz Project Documentation*.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. QzDev User Manual. Quartz Project Documentation.
- Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. Sandra The Sandra Object Database. *Quartz Project Documentation*.

Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. The Quartz Deal Model. Quartz Project Documentation.

Quartz Core Team, Bank of America. UI - The Quartz UI Framework. Quartz Project Documentation.

Stulz, R. M. (2009). Credit default swaps and the credit crisis: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Telegraph, T. (August 24th, 2011). Bank of America: a history.

Weistroffer, C., Speyer, B., & Walter, N. (2009). Credit default swaps. Deutsche bank research.

Appendix A: Meetings Log

Project Meetings Log					
Date	Attendees	Formal/Informal	Main Topics		
10/28/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Introductions / Tour of BofA floors Project Discussion Explanation of Quartz 		
10/30/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Create a presentation on Credit Dashboard (Pros/Cons) to "sell" to teams Begin development of gadget to view last 5 trades 		
10/30/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Gokul Menon Sales/Trade staff	Formal	 Peter and Gokul ask Sales/Trading staff to Demo Quartz electronic blotter, take feedback Program ran really slowly, would need to be faster 		
10/31/2013	Peter Bartek Gokul Menon Alexandra Mutty Sales/Trade staff	Formal	 Peter and Gokul ask Sales/Trading staff to Demo Quartz electronic blotter, take feedback Traders want to see trades that haven't been completed (client backed out, or they did 		
11/04/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Gadget Development update Set up meeting with Gokul Menon to discuss possible gadget ideas Make a Code project (tool to keep track of project progress) 		
11/04/2013	Nicolas Dupuis Gokul Menon Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Formal	 Presentation of Credit Dashboard idea Gokul's Role – Peter Bartek gets project, breaks down into parts, Gokul completes part(s) Gadget ideas: Last 5 trades through Blotter, User stats 		
11/07/2103	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Gadget ideas/specifications Decide on method for drilling down in gadget 		
11/08/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Begin development for top CST Sales Users Possible idea for information: use tree map Meet with Fred Hsu to find out about storing user URL info 		
11/08/2013	Nicolas Dupuis Gokul Menon Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Where CST Sales Tool trades are stored How to access app usage information User statistics: possibly looking at how many users "touch" a trade 		

11/08/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Fred Hsu Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Demonstrated Sandra Last 5 Trades gadget Explained Credit Dashboard concept User statistics idea – need their URL history Where users URL history is stored
11/13/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Concept for User Stats gadget Where to find user preferences for User Stats. Gadget Will need to create a Bob Job to store stats
11/15/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Demo with QzDev Worked through Demo bar chart code
11/19/2013	Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Mike Yang Fangwen Yuan	Formal	 Specs for alerts and fails gadget Possible email option? What information to display
11/21/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Mike Yang Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Clarification on Alerts and Fails gadget Where to find information What the gadget should look like
12/02/2013	Peter Bartek Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Design Review Intermediate pages for links New hierarchy for treemap (limit to business)
12/02/2013	Peter Bartek Sam Beck Nicolas Dupuis Alexandra Mutty Fangwen Yuan	Informal	 Into to Credit Dashboard Interest in Alerts FWD tutorial on setting up alerts in applications

Appendix B: Interview Outline

We first explain our project and the purpose of the dashboard, followed by a quick demonstration of the Dashboard with the gadgets that were completed by the time of the meeting.

- What is your role in the company?
- What work do you do on a daily basis?
- What projects are you currently working on?
- What Quartz Applications do you use frequently?
- What information do you look at daily within the Quartz tools?
- What information would you like to have readily available?
- Would you use a dashboard?
- What tools would you like to see?

Appendix C: A Brief History of Bank of America

From its earliest beginnings, Bank of America has been interested in a financial system that works for the consumers. In 1904, Amadeo Giovanni formed the Bank of Italy in San Francisco, California as a people's bank. At the time, most American banks discriminated heavily against the poor and new immigrants to the country, and the Bank of Italy filled the banking needs of the lower class.

Throughout the next 80 years, Bank of Italy, later renamed Bank of America and Italy, and finally Bank America, steadily grew to become a trusted and widespread Californian bank. Following the relaxation of federal banking regulations that allowed banks to expand across State borders, Bank America acquired Seafirst Corporation of Seattle, Washington, and began its expansion across the United States. Acquisitions of Security Pacific National Bank in 1992 and Continental Illinois National Bank and Trust Co. in 1994 served to help spread Bank America across the continent. Plagued by financial troubles in the late 1990's, Bank America was later merged with Nations Bank to become the Bank of America Corporation.

In the 1950's, Bank America had led the revolution behind credit and banking cards with BankAmericard (later named VISA), and in 2005 Bank of America became a credit card giant following the acquisition of MBNA, the largest independent credit card issuer. Shortly after, Bank of America acquired the United States Trust Company and Countrywide Financial in 2006 and 2008, respectively. Just days away from bankruptcy, Merrill Lynch merged with Bank of America in 2009 under pressure from federal government. Though the merge initially meant that Bank of America inherited the severe losses suffered by Merrill Lynch leading up to their bankruptcy, it also served to make Bank of America the largest wealth management company in the world, and later went on to be most profitable in the investment banking market.

Bank of America began in consumer banking, and even today consumer banking remains the largest division of the corporation. With over 5,800 retail branches and 18,000 ATMs located across the United States, Bank of America is one of the largest banks in the World. As of 2013, Relbanks statistics places Bank of America as the 11th largest financial institution, with a combined total of \$2.21 trillion dollars in assets. In the United States, it is the second largest bank, behind J.P Morgan Chase. Although globalization means that most companies, including Bank of America, have expanded across the World, 90% of Bank of America's revenue is generated in the United States domestic markets, and this remains their core strategy as a banking institution.